Cryoneurolysis dossier

# Cryoneurolysis

## Dossier

#### Table of contents

### Contents

Table of contents
The iovera° System: Clinical Evidence of Effective Pain Management via Cryoanalgesia
Cryoneurolysis for Peripheral Sensory Nerve Blockade
Mechanism of Cryoanalgesia3
Comparison of Nerve Treatments
Rationale for Use: Professional Guidelines
Figure 2. Comparison of Nerve Treatments5
Table 2. Cryoanalgesia in Professional Guidelines       5
Knee Osteoarthritis
Total Knee Arthroplasty7
Foot and Ankle9
Mastectomy9
Occipital Neuralgia10
Rib Fracture
Lumbar Facet Joint
Thoracotomy12
Pectus Excavatum Nuss Procedure12
Tonsillectomy13
Trigeminal Neuralgia13
Phantom Limb Pain13
Peripheral Neuropathic Pain14
Shoulder Pain14
Pudendal Neuralgia14
REFERENCES
Indication
IMPORTANT SAFETY INFORMATION

#### The iovera° System: Clinical Evidence of Effective Pain Management via Cryoanalgesia

Approved by the FDA in 2009, the iovera° system is a cryoneurolytic device used to destroy tissue during surgical procedures by applying freezing cold. It can also be used to produce lesions in peripheral nervous tissue by the application of cold to the selected site for the blocking of pain. It is also indicated for the relief of pain and symptoms associated with osteoarthritis of the knee for up to 90 days. The iovera° system is not indicated for treatment of central nervous system tissue.<sup>1</sup>

iovera° is a handheld device which applies freezing temperatures to targeted nerve sites. The iovera° handheld device delivers a controlled amount of liquid nitrous oxide to closed-end probes, which is then applied to specific target nerves. As this highly pressurized liquid travels from the handpiece to the probe, it undergoes a phase change and becomes very cold by drawing in heat energy from the surrounding tissue, forming an ice ball at the targeted nerve. The gaseous nitrous oxide returns to the handpiece to be expelled; leaving nothing behind in the body.

#### Cryoneurolysis for Peripheral Sensory Nerve Blockade

Cryoneurolysis (also referred to as cryoanalgesia, cryotherapy, and cryoneuroablation) is a form of thermal neurolysis, specifically the application of cold temperature to peripheral sensory nerves. This freezes the nerves at or near the source of pain which results in a nerve block. Similar to the effect of a local anesthetic, cryoneurolysis interrupts signal conduction and/or inflicts injury to the nerve; depending on the temperature applied (Table 1).<sup>2,3</sup>

Description of Injury	Temperature	Coolants
REVERSIBLE		
1 <sup>st</sup> Degree Neuropraxia – Interruption of conduction; short recovery time	+10 to -20°C	lce water Freon
2 <sup>nd</sup> Degree Axonotmesis – Loss of continuity of the axon; preservation of the endo-, peri-, and epineurium; Wallerian degeneration	-20 to -100°C Coldest iovera° temperature -88°C	Carbon dioxide <i>Nitrous oxide</i>
NON-REVERSIBLE		
<b>3<sup>rd</sup>/4<sup>th</sup> Degree</b> Neurotmesis – Loss of axon continuity; endoneurium damage; perineurium damage; (4 <sup>th</sup> degree); epineurial sheath may be intact; Wallerian degeneration	-140°C and colder	Nitrogen, Argon Not possible with iovera°
<b>5<sup>th</sup> Degree</b> Transection (Severe Neurotmesis) – Gross loss of continuity	NA	Not possible with iovera°

#### Table 1. Sunderland Nerve Injury Classification<sup>4-6</sup>

#### Mechanism of Cryoanalgesia

In 1976, Lloyd et al. coined the term "cryoanalgesia" in their study published in the Lancet describing outcomes of 64 patients treated with a cryoprobe cooled with nitrous oxide for a variety of painful conditions. He proposed that this technique was more advantageous to other methods of peripheral nerve destruction, e.g. chemical neurolysis, or surgical lesions, because it is not followed by neuritis or neuralgia.<sup>7</sup>

#### Cryoneurolysis dossier

Similar to the probe used by Llyod, the iovera<sup>°</sup> system uses liquid nitrous oxide to apply freezing temperatures which reaches as low as -88<sup>°</sup>C to peripheral sensory nerves, causing a second-degree nerve injury which results in Wallerian degeneration.<sup>4,5,8</sup> In Wallerian degeneration, the nerve's axon and myelin sheath degenerate, resulting in a blockade of nerve signals lasting from weeks to months.<sup>9,10</sup> Because the integrity of the endoneurium, perineurium, and epineurium remain, the nerve regenerates for complete restoration of function.<sup>9,10</sup> Pain is relieved as the treated sensory nerves cannot conduct a signal until the axon is regenerated. The nerve axon regenerates at the rate of about 1-2 mm per day, which provides a predictable indicator for restoration of nerve function.<sup>10</sup> Only cryoanalgesia reliably produces a second-degree nerve injury via coolants which achieve moderately freezing temperatures, such as liquid nitrous oxide.



**Comparison of Nerve Treatments** 

Figure 1. Key structures of nerves.<sup>6</sup> The nerve is an enclosed bundle of axons, which transmit electrochemical nerve impulses. In myelinated nerves, axons are surrounded by a myelin sheath composed of layers of Schwann cells which increase neuronal signaling speed. Axons are surrounded by the endoneurium, a layer of connective tissue. The axons are bundled together into groups called fascicles. Each fascicle is wrapped in connective tissue, the perineurium. The entire nerve is wrapped in a dense layer of connective tissue, called the epineurium. By applying moderately freezing temperatures, the iovera° system selectively targets axons, causing Wallerian degeneration, and preserving the sheath structures of the endo-, peri- and epineurium, which allows for regeneration of axons within existing nerve sheaths.

Cryoanalgesia with iovera° (cryoneurolysis) uses liquid nitrous oxide to reach -88°C at peripheral nerves, causing Wallerian degeneration and temporarily blocking nerve signals from weeks to months. <sup>4-6, 8-10</sup> The effect on the nerve is temporary, providing pain relief until the nerve regenerates and function is restored. Cryoablation uses extreme cold, below -140°C, but causes irreversible nerve degeneration and destruction of nearby tissues.<sup>57, 58</sup> Cooled or conventional RF uses heat, around 80°C, to ablate the nerve structure, but risks neuroma formation, neuritis, and injury to nearby tissue and vessels (Figure 2).<sup>57, 59</sup>

The advantages of cryoanalgesia via a cryoprobe over hyperthermal modalities (neurolysis via high heat e.g. radiofrequency ablation), are increased visibility of ice ball on imaging, and less damage to tissue architecture and adjacent tissues.<sup>3,11</sup> Radiofrequency ablation (including "cooled" radiofrequency), which has a different mechanism of action, produces a third- or -fourth degree nerve injury.<sup>12</sup>

#### **Rationale for Use: Professional Guidelines**

In use for over 50 years, cryoanalgesia has a well-documented mechanism of action and substantial and growing body of literature demonstrating clinically meaningful pain relief, as well as a strong safety profile, particularly when applying freezing temperatures via a nitrous oxide coolant. It has been recommended by professional organizations including American Society of Regional Anesthesia and Pain Medicine, the American Society of Anesthesiologists, and the US Department of Health and Human Services as a viable treatment for long term pain (Table 2).<sup>13-15</sup>

#### Figure 2. Comparison of Nerve Treatments

CRYOABLATION <sup>6</sup> ≤-140ºC		iovera <sup>°</sup> (-88°C) cryoneurolysis <sup>6</sup>	COOLED RF TREATMENT <sup>59</sup> 80ºC	
	CRYOABLATION 57, 58	iovera° CRYONEUROLYSIS 6	COOLED/CONVENTIONAL RF 57, 59	
Conversational synonyms	Cryosurgery	Cryoanalgesia RF ablation		
Clinical application	Tumor destruction	Pain relief	Pain relief	
Mechanism of action	Process that uses extreme cold to permanently destroy nerves or abnormal tissues	Treatment that temporarily blocks nerve conduction along peripheral nerve pathways	Heat-based ablation	
Duration of effect	Permanent	Temporary	Temporary	
Temperature	≤-140°C	-88°C	80°C	
Safety	Complete destruction of nearby tissues	Risk of local bruising; no effect on nearby tissues	Potential damage to nearby tissues and blood vessels	

#### Table 2. Cryoanalgesia in Professional Guidelines

Year	Authority	Recommendation
2002	US Veterans Affairs (VA)/ Department of Defense (DoD) <sup>13</sup>	Recommends cryoneurolysis for post-thoracotomy pain: "more prolonged relief can be obtained by performing cryoanalgesic blocks of the intercostal nerves." (Grade IB recommendation) <sup>13</sup> Note: This guideline has been retired and updated via the 2019 HHS
2010	American Society of Regional Anesthesia and Pain Medicine (ASRA), and American Society of Anesthesiologists (ASA) <sup>14</sup>	"Cryoablation may be used in the care of selected patients (e.g., postthoracotomy pain syndrome, low back pain [medial branch], and peripheral nerve pain)." Noting "studies with observational findings for cryoablation report pain relief for assessment periods ranging from 1 to 12 months among patients with lumbar facet joint pain, postthoracotomy neuralgia, or peripheral nerve pain" (Category B2 evidence). <sup>14</sup>
2019	US Department of Health and Human Services (HHS) <sup>15</sup>	Pain Management Best Practices Inter-Agency Task Force recognizes cryoanalgesia as "a specialized interventional pain management technique" that "is indicated for numerous persistent and intractable painful conditions, including paroxysmal trigeminal neuralgia, chest wall pain, phantom limb pain, neuroma, peripheral neuropathy, knee osteoarthritis, and neuropathic pain caused by herpes zoster." <sup>15</sup>
2021	American Academy of Orthopaedic Surgeons (AAOS) <sup>17</sup>	"Denervation therapy may reduce pain and improve function in patients with symptomatic osteoarthritis of the kneeOne high quality study (Radnovich et al. 2017) specifically evaluated the efficacy of cryoneurolysis to placebo control in patients with knee OA. It was found that the group receiving cryoneurolysis had improved total WOMAC, WOMAC stiffness, WOMAC pain, WOMAC physical function, and in VAS pain compared to placebo control group."

#### Clinical Evidence for Cryoneurolysis via Wallerian Degeneration

#### Knee Osteoarthritis

Study	Design		Results	Safety/Tolerability
Radnovich et al.	Randomized, double-blind, sham-controlled, multicentered	•	Greater reduction in WOMAC pain compared to sham on Days	The most common
(2017) <sup>16</sup>	trial in patients experiencing pain from mild to moderate knee		30, 60, and 90 (P=0.0004, P=0.0176, P=0.0061 respectively)	side effects were
	osteoarthritis (OA)		<ul> <li>Patients who reported continued effect at Day 120</li> </ul>	bruising, numbness,
N=180			also showed greater reduction in WOMAC scores at	redness, tenderness
	<ul> <li>Treatment group: Cryoneurolysis treatment to the</li> </ul>		day 150.16 (-20.58 vs -14.19, P=0.0015)	upon palpitation, and
	infrapatellar branch of the saphenous nerve (IPBSN)	•	Greater proportion of responders to WOMAC pain at day 30	swelling
	Control group: sham treatment		(P=0.0015) and responders to WOMAC total at day 30 and 90 (P=0.0003, P=0.0069)	
	Primary endpoint: Western Ontario and McMaster Osteoarthritis Index (WOMAC) pain subscale score at Day 30	•	Greater change from baseline to Day 30 for WOMAC stiffness (-6.70 vs -4.38, P=0.0060) and Day 90 (-6.79 vs -4.97, P=0.0325)	
		•	Greater change from baseline to Day 30 for WOMAC physical function (-55.48 vs -34.18, P=0.0012) and Day 90 (-56.00 vs - 40.11, P=0.0172)	
		•	Greater change from baseline to Day 30 for WOMAC total (-78.78 vs -48.26, P=0.0010), Day 60 (-75.75 vs -56.28, P=0.0359), and Day 90 (-80.31 vs -56.51, P=0.0108)	
		•	Greater change in VAS score from baseline to Day 30 (-40.09 vs -12.25, P=0.0073)	

#### Total Knee Arthroplasty

Study	Design	Results	Safety/Tolerability
Urban et al. (2021) <sup>18</sup>	Retrospective chart review of patients who underwent inpatient primary Total Knee Arthroplasty (TKA)	<ul> <li><u>Opioid intake</u></li> <li>Lower opioid use during hospital stay</li> <li>51% lower daily use (47 vs 97 MME, P&lt;0.0001)</li> </ul>	Dysesthesia – consistent with mechanism of
N=267	<ul> <li>Treatment group: Cryoanalgesia treatment to the IPBSN and anterior femoral cutaneous nerve (AFCN) 8-11 days prior to TKA (N=169)</li> <li>Historical control group (N=98)</li> <li>Primary endpoint: Opioid intake in morphine milligram equivalents (MME) from hospital stay to 6 weeks after discharge</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>68% lower total use (104 vs 324 MME, P&lt;0.0001)</li> <li>Lower cumulative MME at discharge (660 vs 1154, P&lt;0.0001)</li> <li>Lower cumulative MME at week 2 (855 vs 1312, P&lt;0.0001)</li> <li>Lower cumulative MME at week 6 (894 vs 1406, P&lt;0.0001)</li> <li>Other endpoints</li> <li>22% lower mean pain score during hospital stay (P&lt;0.0001) <ul> <li>62% less likely to have pain score ≥4 (P=0.0031)</li> <li>44% shorter length of stay (1.42 vs 2.52 days, P&lt;0.0001)</li> <li>Higher proportion of patients achieving flexion ≥90° (165 vs 78, P&lt;0.0001) and extension ≤5° (164 vs 77, P&lt;0.0001) at discharge</li> <li>Greater adjusted mean extension scores (2.11 vs 4.14, P&lt;0.0001) and higher proportion of patients achieving extension ≤2° (141 vs 67, P=0.0094) at week 6</li> </ul> </li> </ul>	cryoanalgesia
Plessl et al. (2020) <sup>19</sup> N=323	<ul> <li>Retrospective chart review of patients who underwent primary TKA, comparing cryoneurolysis as part of rapid recovery protocol (RRP) to standard recovery protocol (SRP)</li> <li>RRP group: Cryoanalgesia treatment to the IPBSN and AFCN 7 days prior to TKA; multimodal pain management (N=194)</li> <li>SRP group (N=129)</li> <li>Endpoints included knee range of motion (ROM): flexion ≥120° and having a flexion contracture ≥10°. Flexion contracture ≥10° is associated with higher pain and lower function and satisfaction scores. Other endpoints included length of stay.</li> </ul>	<ul> <li><u>Range of motion</u></li> <li>RRP patients achieved greater flexion at: <ul> <li>2 weeks (96.3° vs 92.9°, P=0.008)</li> <li>6 weeks (108.5 vs 104.7, P=0.002)</li> <li>12 weeks (112.5 vs 108.5, P=0.003)</li> </ul> </li> <li>Higher probability of attaining flexion ≥120° at 6 and 12 weeks (P&lt;0.05)</li> <li>Less severe flexion contracture at 2, 6, and 12 weeks (P&lt;0.0001, P=0.0004, P=0.0006)</li> <li>Lower probability of flexion contracture ≥10° at 2, 6, and 12 weeks (P=0.001, P=0.035, P=0.044)</li> <li>Length of stay</li> <li>68% shorter length of stay (0.8 vs 2.5 days, P&lt;0.0001)</li> </ul>	N/A

Mihalko et al.	Prospective, randomized controlled trial in patients who	Per-protocol analysis, opioid	AF rate similar across
(2019) <sup>20</sup>	underwent primary total knee arthroplasty	Patients treated with cryoanalgesia required significantly	groups: most surgery
()		fewer daily opioids at: 72 h. 6 weeks, and 12 weeks	related and mild or
N=124	• Treatment group: Cryoanalgesia treatment to the IPBSN	(P=0.0389, P=0.0186, and P=0.0234 respectively)	moderate severity
	and AFCN 3-7 days prior to TKA (N=62)	<ul> <li>More opioid-free patients at 6 weeks (93% vs 81% P=0 0059)</li> </ul>	
	• Control group $(N=62)$		No AF's due to
		Per-protocol analysis symptoms	cryoneurolysis
	Primary and point: cumulative opioid consumption from	Greater improvement in KOOS Ir scores at all timenoints	ci yoncurorysis
	discharge to week 6	• 72 h $(-0.80 \text{ yrs} - 0.140 \text{ P} < 0.0001)$	
	discharge to week b.	• 2 weeks (2 30 vs 1 00 $P < 0.0001$ )	
		6 wooks (0.70 vs 7.70, R<0.0001)	
		12 works (16 00 vs 14 10 P<0.0001)	
		• 12 weeks (10.00 vs 14.10, P<0.0001) • Creater change in pain AUC baseline surrent pain at 72 h and	
		2 weeks (D. 0.0022, D. 0.0074 respectively)	
		2 weeks (P=0.0023, P=0.0074 respectively)	
		• Greater change in pain AUC baseline-past week at 12 weeks	
		(P=0.0256)	
		Intention to treat analysis	
		Did not meet primary endpoint	
Dasa et al.	Retrospective chart review in patients who underwent total	Patients in the cryoanalgesia group had a shorter length of	No complications
(2016)21	knee arthroplasty	stay; LOS ≥2 days (6.1% vs 67.3%, P<0.0001)	related to
		45% lower cumulative opioid requirement during 12 weeks	cryoneurolysis
N=100	Treatment group: Cryoanalgesia treatment to the IPBSN	after surgery (2069.12 vs 3764.42 mg, P<0.0001)	
	and AFCN 5 days prior to TKA (N=50)	Greater improvement in KOOS symptom scores at 6 weeks	Most common side
	Control group (N=50)	(P=0.0037) and 12 weeks (P=0.0011)	effect was local
		Lower pain intensity and interference via reduced PROMIS	bruising at the site of
	Endpoints included length of stay, opioid use, and patient-	scores at 6 weeks (P<0.0001)	treatment
	reported pain and function.		

**Bronstone et al. (2022)** conducted a retrospective case series of 40 consecutive patients who underwent primary unilateral TKA receiving a multimodal analgesia regimen that consisted of preoperative cryoneurolysis; perioperative oral and intravenous analgesics, a neuraxial (spinal) and regional adductor canal block, and local infiltration of liposomal bupivacaine (Exparel); intraoperative periarticular infiltration of bupivacaine hydrochloride (Marcaine); and postoperative oral non-opioid analgesics. Two thirds (67.5%; 27/40) of patients recovered from TKA without using opioids. Whereas 100% of the experienced opioid users required opioids after TKA, only 15.6% of opioid-naïve patients required postoperative opioids. Opioid-experienced patients had a higher mean number of post-TKA opioid prescriptions (3.1 vs. 1.6) and total morphine milligram equivalent (985 vs. 265) than opioid-naïve patients. Patients who used opioids after TKA reported higher levels of pain at each time point than those who had opioid-free TKA.<sup>22</sup>

#### Cryoneurolysis dossier

#### Foot and Ankle

Perry et al.	Single center, open label trial in patients with evidence of	Compared to baseline	No serious AE's
<b>(2022)</b> <sup>51</sup>	unilateral symptomatic ankle OA pain, comparing post-	Cryoanalgesia group experienced improved FAOS-pain score	
	cryoanalgesia treatment results with baseline.	<ul> <li>12 weeks (+20.8, P&lt;0.0001)</li> </ul>	Most frequent AE's
N=40		<ul> <li>24 weeks (+21.7, P&lt;0.0001)</li> </ul>	were index ankle
	• Treatment: Cryoanalgesia treatment to superficial nerves	<ul> <li>Improved FAOS-quality of life score and FOAS-activities of</li> </ul>	arthralgia and
	or deep fibular nerve depending on location of pain	daily living score at 12 and 24 weeks (P<0.0001)	paresthesia
		Less average 7-day pain	
	The primary endpoint was change in Foot and Ankle Outcome	<ul> <li>12 weeks (3.7 vs 6.3, P&lt;0.0001)</li> </ul>	
	Score (FAOS)-pain subscale at 12 weeks.	<ul> <li>24 weeks (3.5 vs 6.3, P&lt;0.0001)</li> </ul>	
		<ul> <li>No difference in 40-meter fast-paced walking test</li> </ul>	

#### Mastectomy

llfeld et al.*	Randomized controlled pilot study in patients who underwent	Pain (NRS)	No AE's deemed
(2022)52	unilateral or bilateral mastectomy	Lower median pain on POD2 (0 vs 3, P<0.001)	related to study
N=60	<ul> <li>Treatment group: Cryoanalgesia treatment at the 2<sup>nd</sup>-5<sup>th</sup> intercostal nerves on the ipsilateral surgical side (N=31)</li> <li>Control group: Sham treatment (N=29)</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Lower median pain at each timepoint POD1-21 (P&lt;0.001)</li> <li>Lower max pain at each timepoint POD1-21 (P&lt;0.001) and over entire first year (4 vs 7, P&lt;0.001)</li> <li>48% of cryoanalgesia group experienced only mild pain (&lt;4) compared with 10% of sham group in post-hoc analysis</li> </ul>	participation
	The primary endpoint was the average pain on the afternoon of POD2. Participants were followed for 1 year.	<ul> <li>Less phantom pain at Months 3, 6, and 12 (P&lt;0.04), no difference on Month 1</li> <li>Less sleep difficulty or awakenings due to pain over 3 weeks</li> </ul>	
		<ul> <li><u>Opioid Use</u></li> <li>98% less total opioids use at 3 weeks (0.3 vs 15 mg, P&lt;0.001)</li> <li>More opioid-free patients (50% vs 14%, P&lt;0.001)</li> </ul>	

**Gabriel et al. (2019)** reported outcomes of 3 patients who received preoperative ultrasound-guided percutaneous intercostal nerve cryoanalgesia postmastectomy.<sup>27</sup> Patients reported an NRS pain score of 0, and no patients required supplemental opioid, through postoperative day 28. In addition, none of the patients reported insomnia or awakenings due to pain. This was in contrast to historic controls who reported sleep disturbances, as well as pain, and opioid consumption, particularly after continuous paravertebral blocks were removed.<sup>27</sup>

#### **Occipital Neuralgia**

Grigsby et al. (2021) <sup>55</sup>	Prospective, non-randomized, interventional study in patients who received cryoanalgesia for the treatment of occipital neuralgia.	<ul> <li>Pain (VAS)</li> <li>Lower mean pain post-treatment (2.8 vs 6.3, P&lt;0.0001)</li> <li>Lower mean pain on Day 7 (3.8 vs 6.3, P&lt;0.0001)</li> <li>Lower mean pain on Day 30 (3.6 vs 6.3, P&lt;0.0001)</li> </ul>	Vast majority noted as mild and resolved by Day 30
N=26	<ul> <li>Treatment: Cryoanalgesia treatment administered in a linear fashion across the predicated nerve path of the greater occipital nerve and/or the lesser occipital nerve</li> <li>The primary endpoint was an improvement in Visual Analog Scale (VAS) pain at day 7 compared to baseline.</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Opioid Use</li> <li>98% less total opioids use at 3 weeks (0.3 vs 15 mg, P&lt;0.001)</li> <li>More opioid-free patients (50% vs 14%, P&lt;0.001)</li> </ul>	AE's included crusting at insertion site, redness/inflammation, Local pain, swelling, hyperpigmentation, and itching

**Kim et al. (2015)**<sup>†</sup> reported outcomes of 38 patients who received local anesthetics in addition to cryoanalgesa to the occipital nerve (ON) to treat occipital neuralgia (20 were treated for unilateral greater ON, 10 for unilateral greater and lesser ON, and 8 for bilateral greater ON) who experienced  $\geq$ 50% benefit following local anesthetic injections.<sup>44</sup> The average improvement of pain relief with cryoanalgesia was 57.9% with an average duration of 6.1 months. The percentage (*P*=0.007) and duration of pain relief (*P*=0.0006) were significantly greater in patients reporting at least 75% relief of pain with local anesthetic injections (Group 2) versus those who experienced 50-74% relief with local anesthetic injections (Group 1). Group 2 reported an average of 70.5% pain relief for 8.1 months compared with an average of 45.2% for an average of 4.1 months in Group 1. Of the 38 treated patients, 3 (7.8%) adverse effects were seen. Two patients reported post-procedure neuritis and one was monitored for procedure-related hematoma.<sup>44</sup>

**Stogicza et al. (2019)**<sup>†</sup> reported on the safety of an ultrasound-guided technique to target the greater ON with cryoanalgesia.<sup>44</sup> The authors had performed this procedure on more than 50 patients in their clinic and reported no major complications and rare minor complications (post-procedure soreness), which resolved spontaneously in 1 to 3 weeks.<sup>45</sup>

#### **Rib Fracture**

**Finneran et al. (2020)** reported outcomes of an 80-year-old patient who was admitted to the ICU with left-sided rib fractures (4<sup>th</sup> through 8<sup>th</sup>) and deteriorating pulmonary status requiring intubation. Single-injection anesthetic-based intercostal nerve blocks and cryoanalgesia were administered, under ultrasound guidance, to each intercostal nerve associated with a fractured rib. Over the following 12 hours, the patient's opioid requirement decreased precipitously. After extubation, the patient remained in the ICU for two additional days and the pain was well-controlled without opioids.<sup>53</sup>

**Kwater et al. (2022)** reported outcomes of a polytrauma patient with sternal and multiple rib fractures. The patient received ultrasound-guided cryoanalgesia at each intercostal space associated with the fractures. The following day, the patient reported static pain (NRS) of 0 and dynamic pain of 2 with deep inspiration. 10 days after cryoanalgesia, the patient reported static pain of 0 and dynamic pain of 1-2, with continued pain relief through 30 days.<sup>54</sup>

**Hashemi et al. (2022)**<sup>†</sup> reported outcomes of a 47 year old man with a history of multiple healed leftsided rib fractures and recent left-sided rib fracture secondary to sports-related trauma. Patient presented to ED with severe left lower chest wall pain. A multilevel intercostal nerve block followed by ultrasound-guided cryoanalgesia of the same intercostal nerves was administered. At a 2 week follow up, he required no further prescription analgesia and remained completely pain free for more than 6 months post treatment and resumed athletic activities.<sup>63</sup>

#### Lumbar Facet Joint

Three prospective observational studies<sup>23-25</sup> and one retrospective study<sup>26</sup> described outcomes of cryoanalgesia for the treatment of lumbar facet joint pain. No patient reported any side effect of cryoanalgesia in any of these studies aside from an occasional incidence of local pain attributable to the procedure which resolved within a few days.

**Berlocher et al. (2003)**<sup>†</sup> conducted a prospective study of patients with chronic low back pain to evaluate percutaneous lumbar medial branch cryoanalgesia of the facet joints before and after the procedure (N=50). Results showed that 62% (31/50) experienced  $\geq$ 50% reduction of pain after 1 year. Patients who had not undergone previous spine therapy were more likely to experience at least a 50% reduction in pain than patients who had undergone spine surgery (85% vs. 47%, *P*<0.01).<sup>23</sup>

**Berkenmaier et al. (2007)**<sup>+</sup> conducted a prospective study of patients with chronic low back pain who underwent percutaneous medial branch cryoanalgesia of the facet joints (N=46). After cryoanalgesia treatment, 72% were pain free or had major improvement of low back pain at 6 weeks and mean VAS low back pain decreased significantly from 7.7 preoperatively to 3.2 at 6 weeks, 3.3 at 3 months, 3.0 at 6 months, and 4.2 at 12 months (*P*<0.0001).<sup>24</sup>

**Staender et al. (2005)**<sup>†</sup> conducted a prospective study of 76 patients who underwent percutaneous medial branch cryoanalgesia of the facet joints and were followed for a median of 22.5 months (range 6- 43 months). The mean VAS pain score decreased from 6.7 pre-procedure to 2.9, 3.2, and 3.4 at 3 days, 3 months, and 6 months post-procedure, respectively. In 40% of patients, pain was reduced for 12 months or longer. Patients who had no prior surgical treatment of the relevant spinal segment had a significantly longer duration of pain relief than patients who had previously undergone surgery (P<0.03).<sup>25</sup>

**Wolter et al. (2011)**<sup>†</sup> conducted a retrospective study of 165 patients who underwent 222 cryoanalgesia procedures to treat painful lumbar facet joints. Follow-up survey data were available for 91 of the 165 patients. Of the 91 patients with follow-up data, 69 had one cryoanalgesia procedure, 18 had two procedures on different dates, and four had three procedures. The mean pain VAS score before therapy (7.7) decreased to 3.7 immediately after treatment and 4.2 at 3-month follow-up. At final follow-up (mean 1.7 years, range 6-52 months), the mean pain VAS score was 5.0. Among patients who had a second cryoanalgesia, the mean pain rating was 6.9 pre-intervention, 3.2 directly after the intervention, and 5.0 at 3 months.<sup>26</sup>

#### Thoracotomy

Thirteen RCTs have evaluated the efficacy of cryoanalgesia of the intercostal nerves for the management of post-thoracotomy pain.<sup>28-40</sup> Seven of 13 RCTs showed that cryoanalgesia was superior to other pain relief methods.<sup>29,30,32,34,36-38</sup> Studies varied in the comparator group, number of intercostal nerves treated, chest drain location, number of treatment cycles, duration of treatment, and cryoanalgesia temperature.<sup>41</sup>

RCTs conducted by **Mustola et al. (2011)**<sup>†,33</sup> and **Ju et al. (2008)**<sup>†,29</sup> in N=42 and N=107 respectively showed a statistically significant increase in the incidence of neuropathic pain following cryoanalgesia administered via the surgical incision in patients at 8 weeks (resolving by 6 months)<sup>33</sup> and at 6 months and 1 year following open thoracotomy.<sup>29</sup> In contrast, the majority of RCTs of cryoanalgesia via the surgical incision did not report any increased risk of persistent postoperative pain, although a few small studies did note a possible association that did not reach statistical significance.<sup>41</sup>

**Ba et al. (2015)**<sup>†</sup> conducted an RCT which compared the analgesic and adverse effects in 178 lung cancer patients awaiting large-sized lobectomy who were randomized to intercostal nerve cryoanalgesia or parecoxib.<sup>38</sup> During the first postoperative week, the pain scores in the cryoanalgesia group were significantly lower than those of the parecoxib group on days 1, 2, 3, and 7 (P<0.05). One month after the surgery, the cryoanalgesia group felt no apparent pain and had local numbness around the incisions, whereas the parecoxib group reported persistent pain around the incisions and in the upper abdomen, with a significant difference in pain scores (P<0.05). The cryoanalgesia group used significantly less morphine than the parecoxib group (P<0.05). Patients treated with cryoanalgesia were significantly less likely to experience postoperative complications, including pneumonia, atelectasis, intestinal disturbance, and somnolence (P<0.05 for each), than patents treated with parecoxib.<sup>38</sup>

#### Pectus Excavatum Nuss Procedure

**Graves et al. (2019)**<sup>†</sup> conducted a prospective RCT which compared intraoperative intercostal nerve cryoanalgesia with thoracic epidural analgesia in patients undergoing repair of pectus excavatum by the Nuss procedure (N=20; age 13 – 31 yrs).<sup>43</sup> Patients who received cryoanalgesia showed a median 2-day reduction in hospital stay (*P*=0.0001), and required significantly less opioids during their hospital stay, showing a mean decrease of 416 mg oral morphine equivalent per patient (*P*=0.0001). Patients consumed 52%-82% fewer milligrams on postoperative days 1-3 (*P*<0.01 each day) with comparable and adequate pain control. No complications were noted in the cryoanalgesia group; among patients receiving epidurals, one experienced a symptomatic pneumothorax, and another had urinary retention.<sup>43</sup>

#### Tonsillectomy

**Robinson et al. (2000)**<sup>†</sup> conducted a prospective double-blinded RCT in patients undergoing tonsillectomy with bipolar electrocautery, for recurrent tonsillitis. Patients were randomized to cryoanalgesia of the glossopharyngeal nerve or a control group (N=47; age 9- 36 yrs).<sup>42</sup> Treatment resulted in a mean pain VAS difference of 1.70 cm (95% confidence interval [CI], 0.78-2.62; *P*=0.0005) over the first 10 postoperative days, which represents a 13% to 45% relative reduction in mean VAS values. The patients treated with cryoanalgesia had significantly less time off work than the controls (10 vs. 14 days, *P*=0.007). There was no significant difference in the proportion of patients who had postoperative bleeding or in the rate of wound healing 1 month after tonsillectomy.<sup>42</sup>Temporomandibular Joint Pain

**Sidebottom et al. (2011)**<sup>†</sup> reported outcomes of patients who underwent cryoanalgesia for severe temporomandibular joint pain who had failed to respond to all forms of conventional conservative treatment and were not appropriate for simple open operation (N=17).<sup>45</sup> Patients were followed up to one year after treatment. There was a significant (*P*<0.0001) improvement in pain VAS from 6.8 (range 4-10) to 2.0 (range 0-7). Two patients had no change in their pain scores, and 2 had complete resolution of their pain. The mean number of pain-free months after treatment was 7 (interquartile range, 3-15). Three patients had long-term pain relief, and 12 temporary relief. Of the 17 patients treated, 2 had predictable temporary complications (numbness of the temple, partial palsy of the temporal branch of the facial nerve) after cryoanalgesia.<sup>46</sup>

#### Trigeminal Neuralgia

**Nally et al. (1984)**<sup>+</sup> reported outcomes of 211 patients with paroxysmal trigeminal neuralgia.<sup>47</sup> The report included 42 patients who were treated with open nerve cryoanalgesia and followed for 3 years. This cohort showed no return of pain in the distribution of the 54 (out of 55) nerves treated with cryoanalgesia. In 16 patients, the pain migrated from its original source 3 to 9 months after the initial treatment.<sup>47</sup>

**Zakrzewska and Nally (1988)**<sup>†</sup> reported outcomes of a series of 145 patients with paroxysmal trigeminal neuralgia who were treated with cryoanalgesia and followed from 1 month to 6 years.<sup>48</sup> Most patients had immediate pain relief following treatment. The mean time to recurrence of pain was 10 months. A second treatment session was required by 38% of patients due to migration of their pain to another nerve. Of the 89 patients whose infra-orbital nerve was treated, 58% were pain free at 1 year and the mean time to recurrence was 20 months. Of the 66 long buccal nerves treated, 45% were pain free at 1 year and the mean time to recurrence time was at 13 months. Only 4% of patients developed local infections which necessitated antibiotic treatment. Forty percent (n=58) described some form of facial pain which had no characteristics of paroxysmal trigeminal neuralgia or anesthesia dolorosa and were labelled as mild atypical facial pain.<sup>48</sup>

#### Phantom Limb Pain

**Moesker et al. (2014)**<sup>†</sup> reported a case series of five patients who had suffered from phantom limb pain (2 arms, 3 legs) from 3 months to 7 years before receiving cryoanalgesia.<sup>49</sup> The peripheral sensory nerve(s) identified as a source of pain were identified with a nerve stimulator prior to treatment. Patients were followed for a minimum of 3 months and every 6 months thereafter. Three of the five patients had excellent outcomes, with a 90-100% reduction in pain, one patient had an acceptable outcome (40% reduction in pain), and one patient had a suboptimal response (20% reduction in pain)

but was able to reduce opioid use by half. Of the three patients with an excellent outcome, one was pain free after 2.5 years, and the other two patients reported 90-95% improvement after 5 years. The two patients with an acceptable or poor response were last assessed at 5 months when both died. <sup>49</sup>

#### Peripheral Neuropathic Pain

**Yoon et al. (2016)**<sup>†</sup> reported outcomes in 22 patients with chronic peripheral neuropathic pain who were treated with cryoanalgesia after failure of first- and second-line therapy.<sup>50</sup> Three plantar neuromas and three ilioinguinal, four posterior tibial, seven saphenous, one gluteal, one sural, one geniculate, and two digital nerves were treated in the study. Mean VAS pain scores were 8.3 before the intervention and 2.3 at 1 month, 3.2 at 3 months, 4.7 at 6 months, and 5.1 at 12 months after treatment (*P*<0.05 versus baseline at each time point). Eleven of the 22 patients had repeat treatments within 12 months of the initial procedure. There were no complications from these procedures. <sup>50</sup>

#### Shoulder Pain

**MacRae et al. (2023)** reported outcomes of a patient with severe pain from bilateral glenohumeral osteoarthritis, complicated by several concurrent diagnoses leaving them ineligible for surgical intervention; pharmacological treatments were insufficient for pain management.<sup>60</sup> The patient received ultrasound-guided bilateral cryoanalgesia to the suprascapular nerve at the suprascapular notch. Shoulder pain and range of motion were improved in the minutes after the procedure. At 6 weeks and 7 months, the patients showed significant improvement in range of motion, function, and pain scores.<sup>60</sup>

**Stogicza, Peng et al. (2022)**<sup>†</sup> reported outcomes in four patients with histories of rotator cuff disease refractory to conservative therapy and not amenable to surgery.<sup>56</sup> The patients previously tried pharmacological management, physical therapy, hyaluronidase, and steroid injections without sustained benefit. The patients received ultrasound-guided cryoanalgesia to the acromial, superior, and inferior branches of the suprascapular nerve; the anterior branch of the axillary nerve; the nerve to the subscapularis; and lateral pectoral nerve. All patients experienced at least 60% pain relief and improved shoulder function and sleep at month 3. Two patients experienced sustained pain relief through month 12, one patient through month 6, while one patient (who had the most advanced disease) returned to baseline level at month 6. No supraspinatus or infraspinatus weakness was clinically evident in any of the patients.<sup>56</sup>

**Matelich et al. (2022)** reported outcomes in three patients with chronic shoulder pain. All patients had diagnostic lidocaine injections at the suprascapular nerve that resulted in pain relief. The patients received ultrasound-guided cryoanalgesia with iovera to the suprascapular nerve at the suprascapular notch. All patients experienced immediate pain relief with pain reduction to 0. Motor weakness lasted 14-18 days. Follow up phone calls showed a duration of pain relief of 3-6 months. No adverse events were observed.<sup>61</sup>

#### Pudendal Neuralgia

**Hampton and Kavala (2023)** reported outcomes in two patients with histories of chronic pelvic pain. Both patients received cryoanalgesia with iovera to bilateral pudendal nerves. Diagnostic nerve block with lidocaine, fluoroscopic imaging guidance, and nerve stimulation were used to indicate correct positioning.<sup>62</sup> Patient A presented with a 10-year history of penile pain, burning micturition, and baseline NRS pain score of 6-8. After iovera treatment, Patient A reported 85% burning micturition pain relief and 25% distal penile pain relief for 3 months. The only side effect reported was minor inferior scrotal discomfort which shortly resolved. At 4 months, iovera treatment was repeated for returning pain, providing 80% pain relief and no adverse events.<sup>62</sup>

Patient B presented with a 10-year history of constant vaginal and vulvar pain radiating along the groin following rectocele repair procedure 9 years prior. After iovera treatment, Patient B reported no pain relief at 3 weeks, but > 40% pain relief of deep vaginal pain at 4 weeks through 2 months. Patient reported lingering vulvodynia and radiating groin which resolved after subsequent thermal treatment. At 4 months, iovera treatment was repeated for returning deep vaginal pain, providing > 50% pain relief with no anal sphincter dysfunction.<sup>62</sup>

\* = cryoanalgesia with both iovera and non-iovera device

+ = cryoanalgesia with non-iovera device

#### REFERENCES

- 1. iovera° User Guide. Fremont, CA: Myoscience, Inc.;2018. <u>https://iovera.com/wp-content/uploads/2018/07/Instructions-for-Use.pdf</u>
- 2. Trescot AM. Cryoanalgesia in interventional pain management. *Pain physician.* 2003;6(3):345-360. <u>https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/16880882</u>
- 3. Brace C. Thermal tumor ablation in clinical use. *IEEE Pulse*. 2011;2(5):28-38. <u>https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/25372967</u>
- 4. Seddon H. Three types of nerve injury. *Brain : a journal of neurology.* 1943;66(4):237-288. https://doi.org/10.1093/brain/66.4.237
- 5. Sunderland S. *Nerves and nerve injuries.* Edinburgh & London: Livingstone; 1968.
- 6. Ilfeld BM, Preciado J, Trescot AM. Novel cryoneurolysis device for the treatment of sensory and motor peripheral nerves. *Expert review of medical devices*. 2016;13(8):713-725. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/27333989
- 7. Lloyd JW, Barnard JD, Glynn CJ. Cryoanalgesia. A new approach to pain relief. *Lancet (London, England).* 1976;2(7992):932-934. <u>http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/62163</u>
- 8. Zhou L, Kambin P, Casey KF, et al. Mechanism research of cryoanalgesia. *Neurological research*. 1995;17(4):307. <u>https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/7477749</u>
- 9. Hsu M, Stevenson FF. Wallerian degeneration and recovery of motor nerves after multiple focused cold therapies. *Muscle & nerve.* 2015;51(2):268-275. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC4315870/
- 10. Evans PJ, Lloyd JW, Green CJ. Cryoanalgesia: the response to alterations in freeze cycle and temperature. *British journal of anaesthesia*. 1981;53(11):1121-1127. <u>https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/7326160</u>
- 11. Choi EJ, Choi YM, Jang EJ, Kim JY, Kim TK, Kim KH. Neural Ablation and Regeneration in Pain Practice. *Korean J Pain.* 2016;29(1):3-11. <u>https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/26839664</u>
- 12. Hsu M. Significance of Clinical Treatments on Peripheral Nerve and its Effect on Nerve Regeneration. *J Neurol Disord*. 2014;2(168):2. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.4172/2329-6895.1000168</u>

- 13. VHA. DoD Clinical practice guideline for the management of postoperative pain. 2001. https://www.healthquality.va.gov/guidelines/Pain/pop/pop\_fulltext.pdf
- 14. Practice guidelines for chronic pain management: an updated report by the American Society of Anesthesiologists Task Force on Chronic Pain Management and the American Society of Regional Anesthesia and Pain Medicine. *Anesthesiology*. 2010;112(4):810-833. <u>http://www.asahq.org/~/media/sites/asahq/files/public/resources/standardsguidelines/practice-guidelines-for-chronic-pain-management.pdf</u>
- 15. Pain Management Best Practices Inter-Agency Task Force. Report: Updates, Gaps, Inconsistencies, and Recommendations. Washington, D.C.: U. S. Department of Health and Human Services;2019. <u>https://www.hhs.gov/ash/advisory-committees/pain/reports/index.html</u>
- 16. Radnovich R, Scott D, Patel AT, et al. Cryoneurolysis to treat the pain and symptoms of knee osteoarthritis: a multicenter, randomized, double-blind, sham-controlled trial. *Osteoarthritis Cartilage*. 2017;25(8):1247-1256. <u>https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/28336454</u>
- 17. American Academy of Orthopaedic Surgeons Management of Osteoarthritis of the Knee (Non-Arthroplasty) Evidence-Based Clinical Practice Guideline. https://www.aaos.org/oak3cpg Published 08/31/2021
- Urban JA, Dolesh K, Martin E. A Multimodal Pain Management Protocol Including Preoperative Cryoneurolysis for Total Knee Arthroplasty to Reduce Pain, Opioid Consumption, and Length of Stay. Arthroplast Today. 2021 Jul 12;10:87-92. doi:10.1016/j.artd.2021.06.008. PMID: 34286056; PMCID: PMC8280475. <u>https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC8280475/</u>
- Plessl D, Salomon B, Haydel A, Leonardi C, Bronstone A, Dasa V. Rapid Versus Standard Recovery Protocol Is Associated With Improved Recovery of Range of Motion 12 Weeks After Total Knee Arthroplasty. J Am Acad Orthop Surg. 2020 Nov 1;28(21):e962-e968. doi: 10.5435/JAAOS-D-19-00597. PMID: 32053526. <u>https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/32053526/#:~:text=RRP%20was%20associated%20with%2</u> Ogreater,%2C%206%2C%20and%2012%20weeks.
- 20. Mihalko WM. Cryoneurolysis Prior to Total Knee Arthroplasty Reduces Postoperative Pain and Opioid Use. The 2019 Members Meeting of the Knee Society; 2019; Cape Neddick, ME.
- 21. Dasa V, Lensing G, Parsons M, Harris J, Volaufova J, Bliss R. Percutaneous freezing of sensory nerves prior to total knee arthroplasty. *The Knee*. 2016;23(3):523-528. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/26875052
- 22. Bronstone AB, Leonardi AL, Brown J, Crabb R, Dasa V. Multimodal Opioid-sparing Analgesia for Total Knee Arthroplasty: Results from a Retrospective Case Series of 40 Patients. *Journal of Orthopaedic Experience & Innovation*. 2022. <u>https://journaloei.scholasticahq.com/article/33296-multimodal-opioid-sparing-analgesia-for-total-knee-arthroplasty-results-from-a-retrospective-case-series-of-40-patients</u>
- 23. Barlocher CB, Krauss JK, Seiler RW. Kryorhizotomy: an alternative technique for lumbar medial branch rhizotomy in lumbar facet syndrome. *J Neurosurg.* 2003;98(1 Suppl):14-20. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/12546383
- 24. Birkenmaier C, Veihelmann A, Trouillier H, et al. Percutaneous cryodenervation of lumbar facet joints: a prospective clinical trial. *International Orthopaedics*. 2007;31(4):525-530. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC2267642/
- 25. Staender M, Maerz U, Tonn JC, Steude U. Computerized tomography-guided kryorhizotomy in 76 patients with lumbar facet joint syndrome. *J Neurosurg Spine*. 2005;3(6):444-449. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/16381206
- 26. Wolter T, Deininger M, Hubbe U, Mohadjer M, Knoeller S. Cryoneurolysis for zygapophyseal joint pain: a retrospective analysis of 117 interventions. *Acta neurochirurgica*. 2011;153(5):1011-1019. <u>https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/21359539</u>

- 27. Gabriel RA, Finneran JJ, Swisher MW, et al. Ultrasound-guided percutaneous intercostal cryoanalgesia for multiple weeks of analgesia following mastectomy: a case series. *Korean J Anesthesiol.* 2019. <u>https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/31475505</u>
- 28. Gwak MS, Yang M, Hahm TS, Cho HS, Cho CH, Song JG. Effect of cryoanalgesia combined with intravenous continuous analgesia in thoracotomy patients. *Journal of Korean medical science*. 2004;19(1):74-78. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/14966345
- 29. Ju H, Feng Y, Yang B-X, Wang J. Comparison of epidural analgesia and intercostal nerve cryoanalgesia for post-thoracotomy pain control. *European Journal of Pain.* 2008;12(3):378-384. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.ejpain.2007.07.011
- 30. Katz J, Nelson W, Forest R, Bruce D. Cryoanalgesia for post-thoracotomy pain. *The Lancet*. 1980;315(8167):512-513. <u>https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/6102235</u>
- 31. Miguel R, Hubbell D. Pain management and spirometry following thoracotomy: a prospective, randomized study of four techniques. *Journal of cardiothoracic and vascular anesthesia*. 1993;7(5):529-534. <u>http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/8268431</u>
- 32. Momenzadeh S, Elyasi H, Valaie N, et al. Effect of cryoanalgesia on post-thoracotomy pain. Acta medica Iranica. 2011;49(4):241-245. <u>https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/21713735</u>
- 33. Mustola ST, Lempinen J, Saimanen E, Vilkko P. Efficacy of Thoracic Epidural Analgesia With or Without Intercostal Nerve Cryoanalgesia for Postthoracotomy Pain. *The Annals of Thoracic Surgery*. 2011;91(3):869-873. <u>https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/21353017</u>
- 34. Roberts D, Pizzarelli G, Lepore V, al-Khaja N, Belboul A, Dernevik L. Reduction of postthoracotomy pain by cryotherapy of intercostal nerves. *Scandinavian journal of thoracic and cardiovascular surgery*. 1988;22(2):127-130. <u>http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/3406688</u>
- 35. Roxburgh JC, Markland CG, Ross BA, Kerr WF. Role of cryoanalgesia in the control of pain after thoracotomy. *Thorax.* 1987;42(4):292-295. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/3303430
- 36. Yang MK, Cho CH, Kim YC. The effects of cryoanalgesia combined with thoracic epidural analgesia in patients undergoing thoracotomy. *Anaesthesia*. 2004;59(11):1073-1077. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/15479314
- 37. Moorjani N, Zhao F, Tian Y, Liang C, Kaluba J, Maiwand MO. Effects of cryoanalgesia on postthoracotomy pain and on the structure of intercostal nerves: a human prospective randomized trial and a histological study. *European journal of cardio-thoracic surgery : official journal of the European Association for Cardio-thoracic Surgery*. 2001;20(3):502-507. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/11509270
- 38. Ba Y-F, Li X-D, Zhang X, et al. Comparison of the analgesic effects of cryoanalgesia vs. parecoxib for lung cancer patients after lobectomy. *Surgery Today*. 2015;45(10):1250-1254. <u>https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/25300198</u>
- Muller LC, Salzer GM, Ransmayr G, Neiss A. Intraoperative cryoanalgesia for postthoracotomy pain relief. *Ann Thorac Surg.* 1989;48(1):15-18. <u>https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/2764595</u>
- 40. Rooney SM, Jain S, McCormack P, Bains MS, Martini N, Goldiner PL. A comparison of pulmonary function tests for postthoracotomy pain using cryoanalgesia and transcutaneous nerve stimulation. *Ann Thorac Surg.* 1986;41(2):204-207. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/3484939
- 41. Khanbhai M, Yap KH, Mohamed S, Dunning J. Is cryoanalgesia effective for post-thoracotomy pain? *Interact Cardiovasc Thorac Surg.* 2014;18(2):202-209. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/24218494
- 42. Robinson SR, Purdie GL. Reducing post-tonsillectomy pain with cryoanalgesia: a randomized controlled trial. *Laryngoscope*. 2000;110(7):1128-1131. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/10892682

- 43. Graves CE, Moyer J, Zobel MJ, et al. Intraoperative intercostal nerve cryoablation During the Nuss procedure reduces length of stay and opioid requirement: A randomized clinical trial. *J Pediatr Surg.* 2019;54(11):2250-2256. <u>https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/30935731</u>
- 44. Kim CH, Hu W, Gao J, Dragan K, Whealton T, Julian C. Cryoablation for the treatment of occipital neuralgia. *Pain physician*. 2015;18(3):E363-368. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/26000683
- 45. Stogicza A, Trescot A, Rabago D. New Technique for Cryoneuroablation of the Proximal Greater Occipital Nerve. *Pain Pract.* 2019;19(6):594-601. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/30821882
- 46. Sidebottom AJ, Carey EC, Madahar AK. Cryoanalgesia in the management of intractable pain in the temporomandibular joint: a five-year retrospective review. *Br J Oral Maxillofac Surg.* 2011;49(8):653-656. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/21177004
- 47. Nally FF. A 22-year study of paroxysmal trigeminal neuralgia in 211 patients with a 3-year appraisal of the role of cryotherapy. *Oral surgery, oral medicine, and oral pathology.* 1984;58(1):17-23. <u>https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/6589572</u>
- 48. Zakrzewska JM, Nally FF. The role of cryotherapy (cryoanalgesia) in the management of paroxysmal trigeminal neuralgia: a six year experience. *Br J Oral Maxillofac Surg.* 1988;26(1):18-25. <u>https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/3422819</u>
- 49. Moesker AA, Karl HW, Trescot AM. Treatment of phantom limb pain by cryoneurolysis of the amputated nerve. *Pain Pract.* 2014;14(1):52-56. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/23279331
- 50. Yoon JHE, Grechushkin V, Chaudhry A, Bhattacharji P, Durkin B, Moore W. Cryoneurolysis in Patients with Refractory Chronic Peripheral Neuropathic Pain. *Journal of Vascular and Interventional Radiology*. 2016;27(2):239-243. <u>http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S1051044315010982</u>
- 51. Perry TA, Segal NA. An open-label, single-arm trial of cryoneurolysis for improvements in pain, Activities of Daily Living and Quality of Life in patients with symptomatic ankle osteoarthritis. *Osteoarthr Cartil Open*. 2022;4(3):100272. https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/36474950/
- 52. Ilfeld BM, Finneran JJ, Swisher MW, et al. Preoperative Ultrasound-guided Percutaneous Cryoneurolysis for the Treatment of Pain after Mastectomy: A Randomized, Participantand Observer-masked, Sham-controlled Study. *Anesthesiology*. 2022;137(5):529-542. <u>https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/35929983/</u>
- 53. Finneran Iv JJ, Gabriel RA, Swisher MW, et al. Ultrasound-guided percutaneous intercostal nerve cryoneurolysis for analgesia following traumatic rib fracture -a case series. *Korean J Anesthesiol*. 2020;73(5):455-459. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC7533180/
- 54. Kwater AP, SEN S, de Hann JB, et al. Ultrasound-guided percutaneous cryoneurolysis for management of acute sternal fracture pain. *Trauma Case Reports*. 2023;43:100751. https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S2352644022001479
- 55. Grigsby E, Radnovich R, Nalamachu S. Efficacy and Safety of Cryoneurolysis for Treatment of Chronic Head Pain Secondary to Occipital Neuralgia: A Pilot Study. *Local Reg Anesth*. 2021;14:125-132. <u>https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/34557036/</u>
- 56. Stogicza AR, Peng P. Cryoanalgesia for shoulder pain: a motor-sparing approach to rotator cuff disease. *Reg Anesth Pain Med*. 2022 Sep;47(9):576-580. https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/35701009/
- 57. Zhou L et al. *Journal of The Analgesics*. 2014;2(1):16-22.
- 58. Erinjeri JP, Clark TWI. J Vasc Interv Radiol. 2010;21(8 suppl):S187-S191.
- 59. Chen AF et al. *BMC Musculoskelet Disord*. 2020;21(1):363.

- 60. MacRae F, Boissonnault E, Hashemi M, Winston P. Bilateral suprascapular nerve cryoneurolysis for pain associated with glenohumeral osteoarthritis: A case report. *Archive of Rehab Res and Clin Translation.* 2023. https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S2590109523000034
- 61. Matelich B, Berg A, Habeck J, et al. Ultrasound-guided cryoneurolysis of the supra scapular nerve for chronic shoulder pain: a case series. *Regional Anesthesia & Pain Medicine*. 2022;47:A99. <u>https://rapm.bmj.com/content/47/Suppl\_1/A99.1</u>
- 62. Hampton H, Kalava A (August 30, 2023) Ischiorectal Approach to Cryoablation of the Pudendal Nerve Using a Handheld Device: A Report of Two Cases. Cureus 15(8): e44377. <u>https://www.cureus.com/articles/159038-ischiorectal-approach-to-cryoablation-</u>
- 63. Hashemi M, Mahmood SMJ, Fernandez J, Oswald J. Cryoneurolysis of Intercostal Nerve for Rib Trauma and Intercostal Neuralgia in the Emergency Department: A Multidisciplinary Approach. J Emerg Med. 2022;63(3):376-381. https://www.jem-journal.com/article/S0736-4679(22)00344-4/fulltext

#### Indication

The iovera° system is used to destroy tissue during surgical procedures by applying freezing cold. It can also be used to produce lesions in peripheral nervous tissue by the application of cold to the selected site for the blocking of pain. It is also indicated for the relief of pain and symptoms associated with osteoarthritis of the knee for up to 90 days. The iovera° system is not indicated for treatment of central nervous system tissue.

When stimulation compatible components are used, the iovera° system can also facilitate target nerve location by conducting electrical nerve stimulation from a compatible 3rd party nerve stimulator.

#### IMPORTANT SAFETY INFORMATION

#### Contraindications

The iovera° system is contraindicated for use in patients with the following:

• Cryoglobulinemia, paroxysmal cold hemoglobinuria, cold urticaria, Raynaud's disease, and open and/or infected wounds at or near the treatment site

#### **Potential Complications**

As with any surgical treatment that uses needle-based therapy and local anesthesia, there is a potential for site-specific reactions, including, but not limited to:

• Ecchymosis, edema, erythema, local pain and/or tenderness, and localized dysesthesia Proper use of the device as described in the User Guide can help reduce or prevent the following complications:

- At the treatment site(s): injury to the skin related to application of cold or heat, hyper- or hypopigmentation, and skin dimpling
- Outside the treatment site(s): loss of motor function